
 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :
:
: CRIMINAL NO. 12-003 (JDB)

v. :
:
:
:

HARRY L. THOMAS JR., :
:

Defendant. :

UNITED STATES’ MEMORANDUM ON RESTITUTION

The United States of America, by and through its undersigned attorneys, submits this

Statement of Position on Restitution pursuant to the Court’s May 3, 2012, Order. 

Background

On January 6, 2012, the defendant pleaded guilty to a two-count Information charging

him with theft of government funds, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(A), and filing a false

return, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1).  On May 3, 2012, the Court imposed a 38-month

sentence on the charge of theft of government funds and a concurrent 36-month sentence on the

charge of filing a false return.  Tr. 84.   In making its sentencing determination, the Court1

evaluated the defendant’s conduct pursuant to the United States Sentencing Guidelines and

concluded that he caused $446,000 in actual loss to the District of Columbia government. Tr. 7. 

Further, the Court indicated that it would impose restitution in the amount of either $353,500, as

specified in the parties’ plea agreement, or $446,000, based on the Court’s determination of the

amount of loss caused by the defendant’s conduct.  See Tr. 7, 77.  The Court deferred ruling on

  “Tr.” refers to the transcript of the May 3, 2012, sentencing hearing in  United States v.1

Harry L. Thomas Jr., Cr. No 12-003 (D.D.C.).
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the appropriate amount of restitution pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(d)(5), and ordered the parties

to submit briefs addressing the issue of which restitution amount should be applied.2

Legal Principles

The Mandatory Victim Restitution Act (MVRA), codified at 18 U.S.C. § 3663A, requires

that the Court order restitution to the victim of an offense against property under Title 18 of the

U.S. Code.  18 U.S.C. § 3663A(a)(1) & (c)(1)(A)(ii).  The MVRA further requires that, “the

court shall order restitution to each victim in the full amount of each victim’s losses as

determined by the court and without consideration of the economic circumstances of the

defendant.”  18 U.S.C. § 3664(f)(1)(A).

Analysis of Restitution Issue

Count one of the Information charged the defendant, in relevant part, with stealing and

obtaining by fraud $353,500 in District of Columbia funds.  This amount included $7,500 in

District of Columbia funds that the defendant caused to be diverted to HLT Development, a for-

profit corporation controlled by the defendant, as part of a $110,000 grant that he directed to pay

expenses from the 51  State Inaugural Ball.  See Docket Entry # 4, ¶¶ 44-55.  The $7,500 wasst

reimbursement to Thomas for an advance payment he had made to secure entertainment for the

ball.  Id.   The amount did not include the remainder of the $110,000 that was diverted primarily

to pay vendors at the 51  State Inaugural Ball, but did not go to Thomas or to any entityst

  In the Plea Agreement, the parties explicitly acknowledged that the Court is not bound2

by the parties’ stipulations with respect to sentencing issues.  Docket Entry #5, at 5.  Moreover,
“the parties reserve[d] the right to answer . . . inquires from the Court,” if the Court, as here, were
to consider any “calculations different from any stipulations” in the agreement.  Id.  The parties
also agreed that “the Court must order . . . restitution under 18 U.S.C. § 3663A,” notwithstanding
the defendant’s agreement “to be jointly and severally liable to make restitution[] in the amount
of $353,500.”  Id.
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controlled by Thomas.   Id.  Consequently, the plea agreement included in the stipulated

restitution amount the $7,500 that was diverted to Thomas, but not the remainder of the grant

that was diverted primarily to pay vendors.

At sentencing, the Court concluded that the loss amount under the Sentencing Guidelines

was “the value of the benefits diverted to an unintended or unauthorized use,” which included the

full amount of the grant diverted to the 51  State Inaugural Ball.  Tr. 7.    The defendant’sst 3

diversion of the grant to pay expenses of the 51  State Inaugural Ball was included in thest

Statement of the Offense to provide the factual predicate for his plea, and $7,500 of those

diverted grant funds were included in the $353,500 figure charged in the Information.  The

Court’s loss calculation thus appears to have been based on the offense of conviction.  

Regarding restitution, the defense argued that it should be limited to $353,500, relying on

Hughey v. United States, 495 U.S. 411, 413 (1990) (restitution must be limited to the “specific

conduct that is the basis of the offense of conviction”).  Tr. 66.   The Court questioned the

applicability of Hughey where the charged conduct and factual proffer “includes the scheme to

the level of $100,000 on the inaugural ball.”  Tr. 67.  The Court made reference to several cases,

including United States v. Grice, 319 F.3d 1174  (9th Cir. 2003); United States v. Cothran, 302

F.3d 279 (5th Cir. 2002); United States v. Karam, 201 F.3d 320 (4th Cir. 2000); and United

States v. Emor, 2012 WL 983152 (D.D.C. March 23, 2012), which might be pertinent to the

question of restitution.

  The Court referred to the amount of the diverted grant as $100,000, rather than3

$110,000, thus leading to a total loss amount of $446,000.  Tr. 7.
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The United States has reviewed the cases referenced by the Court, each of which involved

either a charged wire fraud or mail fraud.  In those cases, the courts held that restitution under the

MVRA could be ordered for related, but uncharged, conduct that was part of the fraudulent

scheme.  See Grice, 319 F.3d at 1177-78; Cothran, 302 F.3d at 290; Karam, 201 F.3d at 325-26;

Emor, 2012 WL 983152 *22.  In this case, by contrast, the charged conduct was a theft offense. 

Under 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(1)(A), the offense may be committed by embezzling, stealing,

obtaining by fraud, or otherwise converting property without authority.  Count one charged the

defendant with all of these means of committing the offense, over a period of nearly two years. 

Thus, although the cases cited by the Court are distinguishable, as we understand the Court’s loss

determination, it was based on the offense as charged – which included amounts diverted to

Thomas as reimbursement for advance payments he made for the Inaugural Ball – and not on

uncharged conduct.

Because the Court has made the determination to hold Thomas accountable for a total

loss of $446,000, an order of restitution in the same amount is consistent with the mandatory

nature of the MVRA and supporting case law.  See 18 U.S.C. §3664(f)(1)(A) (“the court shall

order restitution to each victim in the full amount of each victim’s losses as determined by the

court and without consideration of the economic circumstances of the defendant”); United States

v. Martinez, 610 F.3d 1216, 1230 (10th Cir. 2010) (“the MVRA ‘significantly limit[s]’ a 
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sentencing court’s discretion in determining the amount of restitution”) (quoting United States v.

Bright, 353 F.3d 114, 1121 (9th Cir. 2004)). 

Respectfully submitted,

RONALD C. MACHEN JR.
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

By:       /s/                                                             
Jonathan W. Haray, D.C. Bar 480140
Bridget M. Fitzpatrick, D.C. Bar 474946
Courtney G. Saleski, D.C. Bar 496744
Assistant U.S. Attorneys

JACK SMITH
Chief, Public Integrity Section

By:       /s/                                                             
Peter Mason, D.C. Bar 987804
Trial Attorney
Public Integrity Section
Criminal Division
U.S. Department of Justice
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